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Checklist:  
 

Questions Responses 

Over what period did your consultation take place? From the 6th December 2022 to the 1st February 
2023 

How did you disseminate your consultation materials? 
(online platforms, emails, questionnaires, 
leaflets, letters inviting responses, events) 

Online website, Facebook, emails, e-newsletters, 
booklets, questionnaires, press ad, and 
consultation events. 

List the respondents and stakeholders you proactively 
engaged with in your consultation process (such as local 
schools, local authorities, parents, community groups and 
leaders, local residents, prospective students) 

• Local Primary and Secondary Schools  

• Faith Settings 

• Health Settings 

• Sports Clubs 

• Community Centres 

• Childcare settings: daycare and nurseries 

• LGBT support groups 

• Housing associations 

• Local media 

• Councillors from Admirals and Cawtson, 
Benn, Bilton, Clifton, Newton and Church, 
Coton and Boughton, Dunsmore, 
Eastlands, Hillmorton, New Bilton, 
Newbold and Brownsover, Paddox, Revel 
and Binley Woods, Rokeby and Overslade, 
Wolston and the Lawfords, Wolvey, and 
Shilton 

• Members of Parliament 

• Local authority 

• Unions 

What information was made available to consultees? Which 
school policies did you share (such as admissions, SEN)? 

Information about the Trust and the new school; 
vision and ethos; curriculum and delivery of 
learning; admissions policy, FAQ, and a 
questionnaire 

What information did you provide about the school’s site? Location, map setting out the catchment area 

Did your consultation specifically ask respondents to confirm 
whether they agreed that your trust should open the new 
free school? 

Yes 

How many respondents in total did you get to this specific 
question? 

11 

How many of the respondents agreed that 
your trust should open the new free school? 

9 

What issues were raised by respondents about any part of 
your consultation? 

• A possible adverse impact on efficient 
operations of both schools and Lawrence 
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Sheriff School standards because of 
administration by a single team and 
continued budget cuts. 

• The level of experience and expertise for a 
completely comprehensive primary school 

• The possibility of a school opening delay in 
September 

What is the trust’s response to each of these issues? Detailed in the body of the report 

 

Signed (by Lead Proposer or Chair of Trustees): 

Name: 

Date: 
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1. Executive Summary 

The Griffin Primary School is a proposed one-form entry primary school for children aged 4-11 

years to open in Lower Lodge Avenue in the Eden Park Development north of Rugby town 

centre. Lawrence Sheriff School Academy Trust undertook an eight-week consultation, in 

accordance with the statutory requirements, which was open from the 6th December 2022 to the 

1st February 2023. The eight-week period went beyond the usual six weeks to ensure sufficient 

time for full engagement and in recognition of the Christmas period. 

The purpose of this consultation is to fulfil the statutory duty to inform the community of the 

plans for the proposed 4-11 primary school and to consult with stakeholders and the local 

community on their views, in particular, whether ultimately the Lawrence Sheriff School 

Academy Trust should enter into a funding agreement with the Secretary of State for Education 

– thereby allowing the primary school to become a reality. 

A consultation questionnaire incorporated five questions, which were delivered both online, 

including emails and the school website, and through hand-delivered booklets. The number of 

individual responses received from the consultation survey was 11, with 81.8% supporting the 

proposal to establish the school. Those who are in favour of the school’s opening noted its 

potential to satisfy existing and future demand in the Eden Park development and beyond as a 

primary reason. 

The findings from this consultation will be reported and presented to those that have 

responded, the local community, and the department. 
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2. Introduction 

The Griffin Primary School is a proposed 4-11 primary academy which plans to open in the Eden 

Park development north of Rugby town centre in September 2023.  

With its strategic location in Eden Park Estate, the proposed school will contribute to alleviating 

the growing demands for primary school places due to numerous new housing constructions in 

the region. In particular, since there are currently no alternative primary schools on the west 

side of Leicester Road, it will provide parents in Eden Park Estate with an additional option in 

their choice of school. The school will also foster a sense of community by serving as the core of 

the local community, providing interaction chances for children and parents. 

The school is being proposed by the Lawrence Sheriff School Academy Trust, incorporated on 

27th March 2014, which already operates as Ofsted-rated Outstanding secondary school in 

Rugby. 

In its opening year, The Griffin Primary School will provide much-needed primary places in the 

north of Rugby with one Reception class of up to 30 pupils. When full, the school will have a 

capacity of 210 pupils, expanding organically by adding one Reception class each year until it 

reaches the maximum capacity. 

The Griffin Primary School will be non-selective, non-denominational, and free to attend. The 

Griffin Primary School curriculum model will offer depth, diversity, and enrichment to the 

national curriculum. It aims to increase pupils’ capacity for independent learning, broaden their 

knowledge and experience, foster their self-esteem and self-management, and encourage the 

growth of positive relationships. With its adaptive, Quality First Teaching (QFT), learning will be 

tailored to the individual needs of pupils and provide efficient strategies to support pupils with 

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND). The curriculum will be enriched with a range 

of school clubs and activities, as well as opportunities for families to celebrate learning through 

assemblies and open days. During their time in The Griffin Primary School, pupils will develop a 

love of learning whilst setting high expectations for themselves. 
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3. Background 

Free schools and academies approved to open by the Department for Education must conduct a 

thorough and transparent statutory consultation with parents and local stakeholders before a 

final funding agreement can be put in place. 

This is known as a Section 10 Consultation in reference to Section 10 of the Academies Act 2010. 

The Act states that you should consult such persons as the trust thinks appropriate. The key 

question for which trusts are required to consult is whether the trust should enter a Funding 

Agreement with the Secretary of State for Education.  

The Lawrence Sheriff School Academy Trust devised and implemented a consultation exercise, 

supported by Kinetic Marketing, which sought the views of parents, stakeholders, and the wider 

community on whether The Lawrence Sheriff School Academy Trust should enter into a funding 

agreement with the Secretary of State for Education and open the Griffin Primary School.  
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4. Consultation methodology 

As part of its general communications strategy for the Griffin Primary School, the Lawrence 

Sheriff School Academy Trust had already created a website available for public access. The 

website included details of the school’s proposed vision and ethos, curriculum, admission policy, 

and online questionnaire.  

A database of stakeholders was collated and included: 

• Local Primary and Secondary Schools  

• Faith Settings 

• Health Settings 

• Sports Clubs 

• Community Centres 

• Childcare settings: daycare and nurseries 

• LGBT support groups 

• Housing associations 

• Local media 

• Councillors from Admirals and Cawtson, Benn, Bilton, Clifton, Newton and Church, Coton 

and Boughton, Dunsmore, Eastlands, Hillmorton, New Bilton, Newbold and Brownsover, 

Paddox, Revel and Binley Woods, Rokeby and Overslade, Wolston and the Lawfords, 

Wolvey and Shilton 

• Members of Parliament 

• Local authority 

• Unions 

Emails were distributed to the stakeholders on 6th December 2022 and 3rd January 2023 inviting 

them to learn more about the school and share their views. Information about the consultation 

events and a link to the online survey (see below) were included.  

Two drop-in consultation events were organised:  

• 1.00pm – 3.00pm Monday 16th January 2023 

• 6.00pm – 8.00pm Thursday 19th January 2023 

at Lawrence Sheriff School, Clifton Road, Rugby CV21 3AG. 
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In addition to the events, an online survey went live at 12 noon on 6th December 2022 in the 

Consultation section of The Griffin Primary School website, which can be viewed in Appendix 2. 

This survey comprised five questions about the proposed school, each with space for 

respondents to add comments and explain their views. It also invited respondents to subscribe 

to the school’s e-newsletter, where they could also register their interest in the school. 

Details about the consultation meetings and online survey were included in The Griffin Primary 

School’s website, Facebook page and two e-newsletters, and also in Lawrence Sheriff School’s 

website and weekly newsletters from 9th December 2022 to 13th January 2023. 

1000 copies of the consultation booklets were printed. This eight page booklet included 

information on the school’s vision and ethos, curriculum, draft admissions policy, frequently 

asked questions with answers, and information on the consultation and school newsletter 

subscription. The back page of the booklet was a detachable questionnaire where the five 

consultation questions can be answered. This section of the booklet could then be sent by post 

to Lawrence Sheriff School, Clifton Road, Rugby, CV21 3AG. Respondents could also scan it and 

send it by email to thegriffinconsultation@lawrencesheriffschool.com.The booklet also included 

the URL of the online survey to encourage people to respond electronically.  

The detachable questionnaire page with the consultation form questions is shown in Appendix 1. 

The consultation booklets were distributed through the letterboxes of houses in the red and 

amber areas below and to additional houses outside these areas on 6th December 2022.  

 

mailto:thegriffinconsultation@lawrencesheriffschool.com
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Additionally, during the consultation period, these were on exhibit at Lawrence Sheriff School’s 

Reception. 

Then, additional actions were conducted to ensure the local community’s awareness of the 

consultation events. A 77x1200 mm Consultation advert, which is available in full in Appendix 3, 

was placed in the Rugby & Lutterworth Observer. 

A press release was also sent to local media outlets. 

The closing date for the consultation was the 1st of February 2023. 
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5. Results of the Consultation 

The statutory consultation survey received a total of 11 responses. The survey enabled each 

respondent to provide both quantitative and qualitative analysis. Most stakeholders replied with 

a Yes/No answer, but a section of respondents added further comments on matters, such as the 

basic need for a primary school in the region, the school’s admissions policy, and the curriculum. 

The results covering each of the five questions are presented below.  

6.1 Stakeholder group  

Respondents were asked which stakeholder group they identified themselves as belonging to 

and had the ability to select as many categories as they wished. Respondents also had the 

opportunity to provide additional details on who they were in a free text box. 

 

Most respondents (32%) identified as ‘Parent/carer of child(ren) due to start school in 2023,’ 

followed by ‘Parents/carer of child(ren) due to start primary provision at a later period (21%)’ or 

‘Local residents (21%).’ 

 

 

 

32%

21%5%
5%

5%

21%

11% 0%

Your details (please tick all the boxes that apply to you) - I am a:

Parent/carer of child(ren) due to start
school in 2023

Parent/carer of child(ren) due to start
primary provision at a later period

Parent/carer of primary age
child(ren)

Member of staff at a local school

Representative of a community or
youth group

Local resident

Local employee/employer/business
owner

Other
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6.2 Q1. Do you support Lawrence Sheriff School Academy Trust’s proposal to open a primary 

school in Rugby, Warwickshire? 

82% answered Yes, 9% answered No and 9% answered Don’t know. 

 

The most common response from those who responded ‘Yes’ to the request to ‘Please let us know 

your reasons’ was that there is a clear need for more schools given a shortage of schools in 

Warwickshire and the rise in new housing developments in Rugby. A collection of examples in this 

category is provided below: 

• “The school is urgently needed due to the lack of existing options for those living on Eden 

Park estate.” 

• “I live on Eden Park and have a 4-year-old who is due to start Reception in 2023. There 

are no other primary schools on the west side of Leicester Rd and I do not like the 

thought of having to cross that road every day to take my child to school, it's very 

dangerous even with the crossing!” 

To the invitation ‘Please let us know your reasons’, the most popular reply from those who 

answered ‘No’ to Q1 was the potential concern about staff workload, due to a single team 

administering two schools and a tight budget, as well as possible impact on the existing Lawrence 

Sheriff School. See below a list of examples falling into this category. 

• “The support staff / management team of LSS are likely to be busier with both the 

schools being managed by one team.” 

82%

9%

9%

1. Do you support Lawrence Sheriff School Academy Trust’s 
proposal to open a primary school in Rugby, Warwickshire?

Yes

No

Don't know
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• “With ever-increasing budget cuts, the staff workload may impact the proper functioning 

of both schools unless a separate team of staff are recruited at these 2 sites.” 

• “I feel this is likely to impact kids funding aspects of Lawrence Sheriff school. Hence it will 

be better if another separate Trust manages the Griffin school.” 

For those stakeholders who answered ‘Don’t Know’ to Q1, the following question asked them to 

explain why. The most common response was concern about the Trust’s capacity to develop a 

fully comprehensive primary school, for example: 

• “I really appreciate How brilliant Sheriff have been with their pastoral support for my 

son. But I don’t know how really connected they can be with a fully comprehensive 

primary school. They are great with their intake but that is very skewed socio-

economically, culturally, ethnically, and aspirationally. I’m not sure what their experience 

and expertise can really offer in the real world other than for a small part of the primary 

school.” 

6.3 Q2 Do you understand and support The Griffin Primary School’s proposed Admissions 

Policy? 

All respondents answered to understand and support the Griffin Primary School’s proposed 

admissions policy. 

 

Yes
100%

No
0%

Don't know
0%

2. Do you understand and support The Griffin Primary School’s 
proposed admissions policy? 

Yes

No

Don't know
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Among those stakeholders who answered ‘Yes’ to Q2, the most common impression they got of 

the admissions policy was that it is reasonable, fair, and in line with the regular Warwick policy. 

Below is a collection of examples that fall into this category: 

• “Generic admission policy which makes sense” 

• “Non-selective and starting with Reception intake only ensure correct nurturing and 

development of students” 

• “The proposed criteria makes sense in how it prioritises applications.” 

• “It is fair and sensible.” 

• “It seems pretty much like the standard Warwickshire policy and should also prioritise 

children in the area where there is need of a school” 

6.4 Q3. Do you support The Griffin Primary School’s proposed curriculum? 

91% of those who completed this question answered to support the Griffin Primary School’s 

proposed curriculum, whilst no respondents expressed opposition to it. 9% answered ‘Don’t 

know’ to this question. 

 

Some stakeholders who replied ‘Yes’ to Q3 included a comment stating explicitly that “No 

objections to the proposed curriculum.” 

Respondents who answered ‘No’ or ‘Don’t know’ provided no additional remarks. 

Yes
91%

No
0%

Don't know
9%

3. Do you support The Griffin Primary School’s proposed 
curriculum?

Yes

No

Don't know
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6.5 Q4. Do you agree The Griffin Primary School should open in September 2023, which would 

involve the Lawrence Sheriff School Academy Trust entering into a Funding Agreement with 

the Secretary of State for Education*?  

82% of those who replied to this question agreed that the Griffin Primary School should open in 

September 2023, with the Lawrence Sheriff School Academy Trust entering into a Funding 

Agreement with the Secretary of State for Education. 9% of respondents answered ‘No’ to this 

question, whilst the remaining 9% answered ‘Don’t know.’ 

 

The most common reason provided by respondents who said ‘Yes’ was that they expect the 

proposed school to satisfy the needs of the local community as soon as possible. This category is 

represented by the following examples: 

• “I agree that the school should open in September 2023.” 

• “Completion of the school is long overdue and for some on this estate, the promise of a 

school was part of the reason for moving here. There's no reason to prolong this any 

further, our children need a local school which will also add to the community spirit by 

bringing together children and parents who may not otherwise interact.” 

• “I would love my son to start there in September 2023.” 

The most common reason for a ‘No’ response was concern about the Trust’s capacity to operate 

two schools without jeopardising its existing provision, the Lawrence Sheriff School. The 

following is an example that falls into this category: 

82%

9%
9%

4. Do you agree The Griffin Primary School should open in 
September 2023, which would involve the Lawrence Sheriff 

School Academy Trust entering into a Funding Agreement with 
the Secretary of State for Education*? 

Yes

No

Don't know
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• “My biggest concern is that the one team managing both schools should not have any 

adverse impact on Lawrence Sheriff school standards. It's best that both schools are 

managed by different Trusts” 

For those stakeholders who answered ‘Don’t know’ to this question, the comments given 

included: 

• “That is way out of my level of comprehension when you start talking about how the 

funding will work.” 

6.6 Q5. Do you have any additional comments?  

This qualitative section offered respondents the opportunity to express any additional comments.  

Comments included:  

• “I understand the policy of starting with 30 Reception and adding further 30 each year, 

to maintain culture. Is there any consideration to start the School with 30 Reception + 30 

Year 1 + 30 Year 2 batch?” 

• “I fully support there being enough primary places. And schools that are reception to y6. 

The education system in rugby is pretty rubbish at the moment - so anything to ease the 

pressure seems a good idea. My knowledge of how the system works and what kind of 

housing/socio economics of the area planned are very limited so I don’t feel I can 

comment too much on that. But I don’t think Rugby needs great schools in restricted 

area where the house prices can shoot up even further. I think it needs great schools that 

everyone can access. (I really don’t know if this will be the case for the Griffin).” 

• “Is the school on schedule and will it be open in September 2023 or are they are any 

anticipated delays to the build?” 

• “All the best” 

• “Please make sure the school opens as planned in 2023, my son will hopefully be joining 

you in 2023, as will his brother in the next couple of years. It's important they attend the 

same school and they live within easy walking distance of it, to have a school so close 

that they're unable to attend due to delays would be very upsetting for us and many 

many families on the estate.” 

• “This is a much needed primary school for the Eden Park development and beyond.” 
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6. Other responses to the consultation 

Please refer to Appendices 4 and 5 for all letter replies to the Consultation. 
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7. Responding to the findings  

This report summarises the findings of the genuine, open and honest consultation exercise 

undertaken by the Lawrence Sheriff School Academy Trust. 

As outlined by the positive results, the proposed 4-11 primary school has robust support from 

the local stakeholders. Some questions and issues were raised, to which we gave further 

consideration and provided answers as follows: 

Q1. Won’t the new school negatively affect the Trust’s current school, Lawrence Sheriff 

School? 

No. Indeed we believe that the new school will bring benefits to LSS. For example, our secondary 

staff will be able to work closely with primary colleagues in the school to better understand the 

primary to secondary school transition. Our sixth form students will have opportunities to work 

with the primary school children in areas such as maths, building their experience. In return, the 

primary school will benefit from the specialist teachers and facilities at LSS. 

In addition, the Lawrence Sheriff School Trust have ensured that the appropriate support and 

capacity are in place such that the running of Lawrence Sheriff School is not negatively impacted. 

Q2. Would there be any implications for the funds that are being received by the LSS Trust due 

to the addition of The Griffin Primary School?   

A2. There is a Project Development Grant provided by the LA and additional funds from the DfE 

to support the legal work required in setting up The Griffin Primary School.  This means that the 

setting up The Griffin Primary School does not impact financially Lawrence Sheriff School. 

In addition, the Trust is being structured to ensure that the funding from Rugby School continues 

to come to Lawrence Sheriff School and the funds will be ring-fenced to benefit LSS pupils only, 

not pupils in other schools.   

Q3. Does the Trust have enough capability to incorporate a fully comprehensive primary 

school? 

A3. Yes. We have hired a highly experienced Headteacher Designate for the school who, in turn, 

will hire high-quality, qualified staff to ensure a successful opening. 
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Q4. Will the school be opened in September 2023 as planned? 

A4. We are confident that everything is in place to ensure a successful opening in September. 

We will update all stakeholders on our progress, particularly as to the signing of the school’s 

Funding Agreement by the Secretary of State for Education, which is the legal document that will 

allow the school to open. 

Q5. Will the building be ready by September? 

A5. We are assured by the contractors that the school is ahead of schedule in terms of the 

building work and will be handed over to the Trust in good time to open. 

Q6. Will both the Reception and Nursery be opening in September? 

A6. The school will open with a Reception class of up to 30 children. Once this milestone has 

been achieved, we will then turn our attention to opening nursery provision on the site. The 

current plan is that both will open in September 23. 

Q7. What after-school clubs will be available – details and what they might be? 

A7. We have a range of ideas for after-school clubs. These will be decided in consultation with 

parents/carers to ensure our first intake of pupils have significant enrichment. 

Q8. What are the links between the proposed school and Lawrence Sheriff School? 

A8. Lawrence Sheriff School is the Sponsor of The Griffin Primary School. 

Q9. How will The Griffin Primary School work with other local schools? 

A9. As Lawrence Sheriff School does, The Griffin Primary will play a full and active part in the 

local family of schools. This will include seeking to join cluster groups, knowledge sharing with 

other schools and offering joint CPD sessions. To support families who have older siblings in 

other local schools we will endeavor to align teacher training days and term dates with local 

schools. 
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8. Conclusion  

Responses to the statutory consultation survey demonstrate that a clear majority of the 

respondents were in favour of the proposal to establish a primary school in North Rugby. The 

board of the Lawrence Sheriff School Academy Trust is hugely grateful for the great support given 

by the community. 

Nonetheless, we take seriously all the issues raised and have sought to respond to them. We do 

not take community support for granted and will not allow ourselves to become complacent in 

our efforts to ensure that our plans for The Griffin Primary School reflect the needs and aspirations 

of our community. We are committed to continued engagement with all stakeholders and will pay 

particular attention to allaying the concerns of the negative answers. We will report regularly on 

our advancements and progress to ensure local stakeholders are well-informed and able to fully 

contribute to our plans.  

We are committed to operating in a transparent and inclusive way in keeping with our vision and 

ethos. We will ensure our recruitment and other policies adhere to the very best practice in equal 

opportunities and inclusion and will make sure all staff and governor vacancies are widely 

advertised to the community. We will participate with local networks to develop partnerships and 

collaborate with local community groups, charities, and private sector companies.   

The survey responses were returned in relatively limited numbers, and attendance at the 

consultation meetings was low. This can be ascribed to a variety of reasons, including the wide-

ranging efforts of Trust in researching, assessing, and communicating the plans for the proposed 

new school. At the same time, it can be linked to the confidence that stakeholders and the local 

community have in the leadership and decision-making of Trust to launch and operate the 

proposed school.  

The range of questions asked at the meetings highlights the issues discussed and illustrates the 

willingness of attendees to engage with Trust about their plans.  

Essentially, this report fulfils the Griffin Primary School’s statutory requirement to consult with 

stakeholders about its proposal and the Lawrence Sheriff School Academy Trust can proceed with 

the next phase of the project’s pre-opening, with the understanding that no significant barriers or 

opposition to their proposals have been identified. Based on the responses to the consultation, 
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the Governors agreed they wish to enter into a Funding Agreement with the Secretary of State to 

open the school in September 2023. 
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APPENDIX 1 Detachable Questionnaire  

 

  



Rugby/ The Griffin Primary School/ Lawrence Sheriff School Academy Trust          

          
                    

Lawrence Sheriff School Academy Trust 
  lawrencesheriffschool.net 

01788 542074 | contact@lawrencesheriffschool.com  

 

23 

APPENDIX 2 Online Consultation Form 

        

Website reporting  
 
During the consultation period 
(Tuesday 6th December 2022 - 
Wednesday 1st February 2023), website 
analytics recorded:  
 

• 250 page views of the 

Consultation page  

• 60 page views of the 

Consultation Questionnaire 

page  
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APPENDIX 3 Consultation Advertisement 
Rugby Observer, 8th December 2022. Circulation c. 7,000.  
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APPENDIX 4 Response to Consultation 
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APPENDIX 5 Response to Consultation 

 

 


